A.    INTRODUCTION. 

 Kennon Fastrup was accused of killing his then-girlfriend by a 

former girlfriend, Michelle Backstrom, who also admitted that she 

participated in the acts causing the death and it occurred at her home. 

Ms. Backstrom pled guilty to reduced charges in exchange for testifying 

against Mr. Fastrup. At Mr. Fastrup’s trial, Ms. Backstrom offered 

numerous allegations that Mr. Fastrup behaved meanly or violently on 

unrelated occasions. The State then bolstered her testimony by claiming 

it was consistent with what she told police, even though her motive to 

fabricate arose before her post-arrest statements to police. The court 

gave limiting instructions that commented on the evidence by including 

the judge’s opinion about the probative value of this evidence. Finally, 

the bailiff eavesdropped on Mr. Fastrup’s private communications with 

his lawyer during jury selection, which interfered with his right to 

counsel and prejudiced Mr. Fastrup’s right to participate in jury 

selection. These errors, considered separately or cumulatively, require a 

new trial. 
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B.    ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1.  The court’s interference in Mr. Fastrup’s private 

communications with his attorney violated his right to counsel under 

the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22. 

2.  The interference in Mr. Fastrup’s private communications 

with counsel violated his right to meaningfully participate in jury 

selection under the Sixth Amendment and article I, sections 21 and 22.  

3.  The court erroneously denied Mr. Fastrup’s motion for a new 

trial based on interference with the right to counsel. 

4.  The court denied Mr. Fastrup a fair trial by admitting 

allegations of uncharged misconduct that was more prejudicial than 

probative. 

5. The court improperly commented on the evidence in violation 

of article IV, section 14. 

6. The court erroneously admitted prior consistent statements of 

an accuser under ER 801(d)(1)(ii).  

7.  The cumulative prejudice resulting from the court’s 

erroneous rulings, comments on the evidence, and interference with Mr. 

Fastrup’s right to counsel denied him a fair trial.  
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C.    ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

 1.  An accused person’s right to counsel includes the right to 

privately communicate with his attorney. His right to participate in jury 

selection also requires confidential consultation with counsel. The 

bailiff eavesdropped on Mr. Fastrup’s private and quiet conversation 

with his lawyer during jury selection and reported this conversation to 

the court. As a result, the State peremptorially struck the prospective 

juror who was the subject of the private discussion and Mr. Fastrup was 

chilled in his ability to confidentially communicate with his lawyer 

throughout the trial. Was Mr. Fastrup prejudicially denied his right to 

counsel after the bailiff eavesdropped on and publicly reported his 

private communication to his attorney during jury selection? 

 2.  Uncharged misconduct on other occasions is inadmissible 

unless the court first finds it is more probative than prejudicial and even 

if admitted, it may not be used to imply the accused person has a 

propensity for mean or dangerous conduct. The State’s principle 

witness claimed Mr. Fastrup regularly engaged in bad behavior that was 

not part of the charged incident and had a propensity to be selfish and 

mean to women. The court did not weigh this evidence’s admissibility 

under ER 404(b). Did the court improperly admit evidence that painted 
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Mr. Fastrup as a dangerous or unlikeable person for reasons unrelated 

to the charged offenses? 

 3.  Article IV, section 16 strictly prohibits a judge from telling 

the jury her opinion of the probative value of disputed evidence. The 

court gave the jury two limiting instructions that informed the jury of 

the judge’s opinion about the value it should give to evidence of 

uncharged misconduct by Mr. Fastrup. Did the court impermissibly 

comment on the evidence? 

 4.  Prior consistent statements are inadmissible unless used to 

rebut a claim of recent fabrication. The prosecution elicited in detail the 

consistency of its principle witness’s post-arrest statements to police 

and her trial testimony, over defense objection, even though her motive 

to fabricate arose before her custodial statements to police. Did the 

court improperly permit the State to bolster its case by offering 

inadmissible consistent statements? 

 5.  The cumulative effect of errors may deprive a person of a fair 

trial. The evidence against Mr. Fastrup rested largely on the testimony 

of an alleged accomplice, whose testimony must be carefully weighed 

by the jury due to her self-interest in shifting blame to Mr. Fastrup. 

There was little evidence of premeditation even if the jury believed Ms. 
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Backstrom’s testimony about Mr. Fastrup’s involvement, yet Mr. 

Fastrup was convicted of the most serious charges against him. Did the 

multiple evidentiary errors, as well as the court’s comment on the 

evidence and its invasion of the private communications between Mr. 

Fastrup and his attorney, affect how the jury viewed the evidence 

against Mr. Fastrup and deny him a fair trial? 

D.    STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

  On May 5, 2012, a teenager noticed a car on fire as he drove 

home in the early morning. 6RP 15-16.1 Firefighters extinguished the 

flames and found the remains of a body in the car’s trunk. 6RP 32. The 

remains belonged to the registered owner of the car, Denise Grisby. 

9RP 50; 10RP 11. The medical examiner concluded Ms. Grisby had 

skull fractures from two blows to the head and was dead before the fire 

started. 8RP 36-37. 

 Ms. Grisby’s mother, Sandy Jones, had last seen Ms. Grisby 

several days earlier when she gave Ms. Grisby money to retrieve her car 

from an impound lot. 6RP 99-100. Ms. Grisby had been dating Kennon 

                                            
1
 Sixteen volumes of the verbatim report of proceedings (RP) are 

referred to by the volume number designated on the cover page. The two dates of 

proceedings that do not have a volume designated on the cover page are referred 

to by the date of the proceeding. 
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Fastrup. 6RP 97. She and Mr. Fastrup used drugs frequently and 

struggled to make ends meet. 6RP 97; 6/23/14RP 10. Ms. Grisby left 

the impound lot on May 4, 2014, and went with Mr. Fastrup to 

Michelle Backstrom’s home. 6RP 101-02. 

 Ms. Backstrom was Mr. Fastrup’s former girlfriend. 6/23/14RP 

6. Ms. Grisby and Mr. Fastrup came to her house because they were 

homeless, needed to do laundry, and had no money. 6/23/14RP 10. That 

day, Ms. Backstrom had a “hit” of heroin and smoked a bowl of 

methamphetamine, as she did regularly. Id. at 12. Later in the evening, 

Ms. Backstrom took a large hit of heroin as she did every night before 

bed. Id. at 20, 130. She heard Mr. Fastrup and Ms. Grisby arguing 

about money; Ms. Grisby wanted to “turn a trick” to get money to stay 

in a motel and get high, while Mr. Fastrup did not want Ms. Grisby to 

do that. Id. at 21-22.  

 Ms. Grisby and Mr. Fastrup started grappling in the kitchen, 

with Ms. Grisby scratching Mr. Fastrup. 6/23/14RP 22-23. Ms. 

Backstrom tried to separate them and told both to get out of her home 

due to the noise. Id. at 23. Ms. Grisby “grabbed a hold” of Ms. 

Backstrom’s thumb “and she bit and she wouldn’t release” it. Id. “She 

was just in a rage, so was Kenny,” Ms. Backstrom said. Id. at 24. Ms. 
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Backstrom hit Ms. Grisby “in the hand with a meat cleaver” and Ms. 

Grisby released Ms. Backstrom’s thumb. Id.  

 The three adults continued arguing as they moved into the 

garage. 6/23/14RP 24-25, 27-28. Ms. Backstrom said Mr. Fastrup 

picked up a metal cable and put it around Ms. Grisby’s neck. Id. at 29. 

The two struggled for ten or twenty seconds as the cable slipped. Id. at 

29-30. Ms. Backstrom picked up a lanyard after Mr. Fastrup dropped 

the cable, and she put the lanyard around Ms. Grisby’s neck “to hold 

her.” Id. at 30. Then, Ms. Backstrom said Mr. Fastrup picked up a part 

of a broken flashlight and hit Ms. Grisby in the head. Id. at 30, 32. Ms. 

Grisby slumped over and stopped struggling. Id. at 31. Ms. Backstrom 

was holding Ms. Grisby by the lanyard around her neck while this 

occurred. Id. at 32-33. Mr. Fastrup and Ms. Backstrom put Ms. 

Grisby’s body into the trunk of her car, which was parked in the garage. 

Id. at 33-34. Ms. Backstrom described the incident as spontaneous, with 

no communication between herself and Mr. Fastrup until it ended. Id. at 

24-34. 

 After sleeping, cleaning up the home, and thinking about what 

to do, Ms. Backstrom went to a store and bought gasoline. 6/23/14RP 

42, 54, 56. Mr. Fastrup and Ms. Backstrom drove Ms. Grisby’s car to a 
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forested area in Black Diamond and Mr. Fastrup set the car on fire. Id. 

at 57-58. 

 Police tracked Mr. Fastrup through his cell phone, spoke to him 

on the phone several times, then arrested him and Ms. Backstrom after 

they hid in the woods for several days and did not stop their car for 

police when signaled to do so. Id. at 67; 9RP 35-36; 11RP 78-82, 85-

86. Detectives questioned them separately. 9RP 41, 57-58; 11RP 88. 

Ms. Backstrom initially minimized her involvement but during a 

lengthy post-arrest interview, provided an account of Mr. Fastrup 

killing Ms. Grisby at her home. 10RP 89-93, 99-102; 11RP 24-29. Mr. 

Fastrup also denied any involvement initially, but later admitted helping 

dispose of Ms. Grisby’s body. 9RP 58, 83, 86.  

 Ms. Backstrom entered into a plea agreement with the 

prosecution, pleading guilty to second degree murder in exchange for 

no further charges being brought against her. 6/23/14RP 87, 90-91; 7RP 

83-84. She agreed to testify against Mr. Fastrup as part of the plea 

agreement. Id. Despite extensive DNA testing, the police were not able 

to locate any clear forensic evidence from the garage to corroborate Ms. 

Backstrom’s account of events. 7/1/14RP 22-23, 26-27, 30-31, 37-39. 
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 Mr. Fastrup was charged with first degree premeditated murder; 

second degree murder in the alternative; arson in the second degree; 

attempting to elude the police; and a separate count of misdemeanor 

violation of a no contact order that involved a prior no contact order 

between Mr. Fastrup and Ms. Backstrom. CP 24-25. The jury convicted 

him as charged and he received a standard range sentence of 548 

months. CP 130, 133; CP 142. 

 Pertinent facts are addressed in further detail in the relevant 

argument sections below. 

E.    ARGUMENT. 

 1.  The court impermissibly interfered with Mr. 

Fastrup’s right to confidentially consult with his 

attorney during trial. 

 

                   a. An accused person’s right to counsel includes the right to 

confidentially confer with his lawyer. 

 

 The right to counsel is a bedrock procedural guarantee of a 

particular kind of relationship between an accused person and his 

attorney. United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 145-46, 126 

S.Ct. 2557, 165 L.Ed.2d 409 (2006); U.S. Const. amend. 6; Const. art. 

I, § 22. Its foundation is “[t]he constitutional right to privately 

communicate with an attorney.” State v. Pena Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 808, 
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820, 318 P.3d 257 (2014); see also Patterson v. Illinois, 487 U.S. 285, 

290 n.3, 108 S.Ct. 2389, 101 L.Ed.2d 261 (1988) (Sixth Amendment 

involves a “distinct set of constitutional safeguards aimed at preserving 

the sanctity of the attorney-client relationship”).   

 It is “universally accepted” that effective representation cannot 

be had without private consultations between attorney and client. State 

v. Cory, 62 Wn.2d 371, 374, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963). “A defendant's 

constitutional right to the assistance of counsel unquestionably includes 

the right to confer privately with his or her attorney.” Pena Fuentes, 

179 Wn.2d at 818. The confidential attorney-client relationship is not 

only a “fundamental principle” in our justice system, it is “pivotal in the 

orderly administration of the legal system, which is the cornerstone of a 

just society.” In re Schafer, 149 Wn.2d 148, 160, 66 P.3d 1036 (2003).  

The confidentiality of discussions is inextricably intertwined 

with the adversarial system of justice, which demands that the lawyer 

know all relevant facts to advocate effectively and understands clients 

will not provide lawyers with the necessary information unless assured 

this information will remain confidential. Id. at 160-61; see RCW 
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5.60.060(2)(a);2 RPC 1.6 (lawyer “shall not reveal confidences or 

secrets” relating to client); RPC 4.4 (attorney may not intrude into 

attorney-client relationship of another party). Eavesdropping by the 

government on a private conversation between attorney and client 

violates the right to counsel and is presumed prejudicial. Pena Fuentes, 

179 Wn.2d at 819-20. 

b.  Jury selection is a critical stage in a trial where 

confidential communications between attorney and client 

are essential to a meaningful right to counsel. 

 

 An accused person has a right to personally participate in 

selecting an empaneled jury. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 85, 106 

S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986); State v. Irby, 170 Wn.2d 874, 884-

85, 246 P.3d 796 (2011), U.S. Const. amends. 6, 14; Const. art. I, § 22. 

The stronger jury trial protections guaranteed in article I, section 22 

expressly mandate the defendant’s personal participation in all stages of 

jury selection. Irby, 170 Wn.2d at 884. 

 During jury selection, the accused person is constitutionally 

entitled “to give advice or suggestion or even to supersede his lawyers 

                                            
2
  RCW 5.60.060(2)(a) provides, “An attorney or counselor shall not, 

without the consent of his or her client, be examined as to any communication 

made by the client to him or her, or his or her advice given thereon in the course 

of professional employment.” (Emphasis added.) 
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altogether.” Irby, 170 Wn.2d at 883 (internal citations omitted). The 

defense may decide to challenge or not challenge a prospective juror for 

any unstated reason as long as it is not premised on invidious 

discrimination. See Batson, 476 U.S. at 91. Peremptory challenges have 

“deep historical roots” and the Supreme Court has found that the 

“peremptory challenge is a necessary part of trial by jury.” Id.; Swain v. 

Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 212, 85 S.Ct. 824, 13 L.Ed.2d 759 (1965).  

 The mechanism by which an accused person participates in jury 

selection is through consulting with his attorney in person. Irby, 170 

Wn.2d at 884. A defendant must be given the opportunity to tender 

advice or make suggestions to his or her lawyer when assessing 

potential jurors. Id.  The defendant’s “life or liberty may depend upon 

the aid which, by his personal presence, he may give to counsel and to 

the court and triers, in the selection of jurors.” Lewis v. United States, 

146 U.S. 370, 373, 13 S.Ct. 136, 36 L.Ed. 1011 (1892). 
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 c.  The court interfered in Mr. Fastrup’s right to counsel by 

eavesdropping on private communications and requiring 

Mr. Fastrup to explain his confidential conferences with 

counsel. 

 

 During the substantive portion of jury selection where the 

parties explored the qualifications of jurors to serve impartially for 

case-specific reasons, Juror 35 was individually examined because he 

may have heard something about the allegations before being called for 

jury service. 4RP 13. The court and parties questioned him and 

determined he did not have knowledge about this case that might 

disqualify him. 4RP 29-31. 

  But after this exchange with Juror 35 in court, the judge 

announced that her bailiff overheard Mr. Fastrup communicating about 

this juror to his lawyer. 4RP 53; CP 119-21. The bailiff believed Mr. 

Fastrup had indicated his personal recognition of Juror 35. 4RP 53-55. 

Speaking directly to Mr. Fastrup, the judge requested that the defense 

explain what he knew about Juror 35. 4RP 53-54. Mr. Fastrup said 

Juror 35 looked like someone he knew from Renton High School. Id. 

It turned out that Mr. Fastrup did not know Juror 35. 4RP 123; 

CP 127. However, the prosecution struck this juror in its peremptory 

challenges. 5RP 149. Mr. Fastrup filed a motion for a new trial based 
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on the intrusion into private attorney-client communications. CP 105-

06, 111-16; CP 119-21. Defense counsel complained that Mr. Fastrup 

had spoken to him confidentially, in a hushed tone, and the bailiff 

should not have overheard or reported his conversation to the court and 

prosecution. CP 120. This intrusion affected jury selection and chilled 

the in-court attorney-client communications throughout trial. CP 120-

21. The court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing or an 

explanation of its ruling. CP 117-18, 163.  

 d.  The court’s interference in the confidential attorney-

client relationship undermines the privacy essential to 

the right to counsel and requires a new trial. 

 

Eavesdropping to acquire confidential information intended for 

an attorney violates the right to counsel. Pena Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d at 

819. Because the constitutional right to privately communicate with an 

attorney is an essential foundational right, “[w]e must hold the State to 

its highest burden to ensure it is protected.” Pena Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 

at 820. Prejudice is presumed and the State has the burden beyond a 

reasonable doubt to show the defense was not prejudiced. Id. at 819-20.  

Qualified jurors may look at the same evidence and reach 

different results. Irby, 170 Wn.2d at 886-87. Private communication 

with counsel is essential to the accused person’s participation in jury 
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selection. See Irby, 170 Wn.2d at 884. A court’s impairment of an 

accused person’s ability to meaningfully participate in jury selection is 

not harmless. Id. 

A bailiff is the judge’s agent and is subject to the same 

restrictions as a judge. State v. Johnson, 125 Wn.App. 443, 461, 105 

P.3d 85 (2005). The bailiff eavesdropped on the private conversation 

between Mr. Fastrup and his attorney. CP 120. The conversation was 

conducted in the same “hushed tone” used throughout trial. CP 120. Mr. 

Fastrup’s remarks were not directed at the bailiff. Id. But the bailiff 

listened and relayed this private conversation to the judge, who 

announced part of the conversation in court and required Mr. Fastrup to 

state his thoughts about Juror 35 on the record. 4RP 53-54. Defense 

counsel explained the detrimental effect of the bailiff’s eavesdropping 

and reporting on private communications. It chilled attorney-client 

communications throughout trial, giving Mr. Fastrup a reason to fear 

expressing himself to his lawyer and risk that his communications 

would be reported to the judge. CP 120. It also gave the State a reason 

to strike this qualified juror that would not have arisen absent the 

court’s interference into Mr. Fastrup’s right to counsel. 5RP 149. 
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 Even though Juror 35 and Mr. Fastrup did not know each other, 

he was the type of juror Mr. Fastrup would have wanted on the jury. 

Juror 35 was not a drug user but had a friend who used 

methamphetamine, which might make the juror more sympathetic to a 

person like Mr. Fastrup whose behavior was influenced by drugs. 5RP 

83-84, 140-41. He was a younger man who might be able to put himself 

in Mr. Fastrup’s shoes. 4RP 54. However, he also had markings of a 

juror favorable to the prosecution. His girlfriend and mother had been 

victims of domestic violence, thus making him potentially sympathetic 

with the prosecution. 5RP 79, 81. He described himself as introverted at 

a party but able to engage with a group. 5RP 20-21, 24. Juror 35 

appeared able to relate to both sides in the case, and therefore would be 

a qualified and appropriate juror who the State would be interested in 

having serve. But the State struck him after the bailiff relayed Mr. 

Fastrup’s confidential communications in court. 5RP 149. 

 The bailiff’s close attention to Mr. Fastrup’s private 

communications with his lawyer when participating in jury selection 

and publicly reporting those private communications to the court on the 

record interfered with his right to counsel. It prejudiced the selection of 

jurors, affected the attorney-client relationship during the critical phases 
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of the jury trial, and requires a new trial. See Pena Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 

at 819-20; Irby, 170 Wn.2d at 886-87. 

 2.   By admitting unduly prejudicial evidence painting 

Mr. Fastrup as a violent person based on 

uncharged conduct, Mr. Fastrup was denied a fair 

trial. 

 

a.  The right to a fair trial includes the right to be tried for 

only the charged offense.  

 

An accused person’s right to a fair trial is a fundamental part of 

due process of law. United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739, 750, 107 

S.Ct. 2095, 95 L.Ed.2d 697 (1987); U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. 

I, §§ 3, 22. The right to a fair trial includes the right to be tried for only 

the offense charged. State v. Mack, 80 Wn.2d 19, 21, 490 P.2d 1303 

(1971).    

Erroneous evidentiary rulings violate due process by depriving

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