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

i. Relevant facts.

The court recessed for lunch during Fastrup's cross-examination of

Bacl<strom. 7RP 100-01. During the recess, Fastrup was very upset about
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Bacicstrom's testimony, and told King County Correctional Officer Jeffrey

Gaw, "If you guys take me back up to court and you take the cuffs off, I

am going to jump over the counter and beat her up. And you guys are

going to have to fuck me up." 7RP 107; lORP 19-30. The court and

parties were informed, Fastrup's attorney spoke with him in an effort to

calm him, and after discussing various security scenarios, Fastrup returned

to court with extra corrections officers present. 7RP 101-08.

The State moved to admit evidence of Fastrup's threat toward

Bacicstrom as evidence of his guilty conscience and his intent to intimidate

a witness who was testifying against him. 8RP 75-76, 79, 86-87. Fastrup

objected to the evidence as irrelevant and prejudicial. 8RP 78-79. The

court concluded that the threat had limited probative value of guilty

conscience that was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair

prejudice and excluded the evidence. 8RP 89-91.

Later, Fastrup cross-examined Detective Pavlovich, who had

interviewed Fastrup the day of his arrest, about statements Fastrup made

about Bacicstrom. Specifically, he asked Pavlovich about Fastrup's

statements about Backstrom — "Fucking bitch will kick my ass, dude,"

referring to why he never confronted her about what happened while he

was gone. He also asked about Fastrup's statements that if he had left

Bacicstrom's house or said something about Grigsby, then he would be "in
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the exact same situation" as Grigsby. 9RP 168. Fastrup also cross-

examined Pavlovich about his statements that when Bacicstrom asked him

to help her get rid of the car, if he would have refused, "She would have

fucking, would have fucking put me there with her ... She sort of

threatened me a couple of times." 9RP 172. Fastrup also elicited his

statements to police that it was "not physically possible" for him to kill

Grigsby because of his small size in relation to her. 9RP 169. This came

after Fastrup's questioning of Bacicstrom about how both she and Grigsby

were both much larger than Fastrup. 7RP 62.

Following Fastrup's cross-examination of Detective Pavlovich, the

State moved again to admit evidence of Fastrup's mid-trial threat toward

Bacicstrom. CP 28; l ORP 21-24. The prosecutor contended that Fastrup's

cross-examination of Detective Pavlovich, which elicited Fastrup's claims

that Bacicstrom (who was larger than him) had threatened him, and that he

was afraid she would kill him if he did not help her dispose of Grigsby's

car, had painted him to be small, defenseless, and in fear of Bacicstrom.

l ORP 22-23. The prosecutor argued that Fastrup's threat to beat

Bacicstrom in court and that the jail officers would have to "fuck him up" -

to stop him, was relevant to rebut Fastrup's claims of fear and

defenselessness. lORP 22-23, 67-68, Noting that it had previously

determined that the probative value of the threat was outweighed by the
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danger of unfair prejudice, the trial court concluded that Fastrup's

questioning of Pavlovich had changed that balance. After careful

re-weighing, the court admitted the threat. l ORP 74-75. The court

indicated that it would provide a limiting instruction and encouraged

Fastrup to propose one, which he did. CP 29; l ORP 75-76.

ii. The court properly admitted Fastrup's
mid-trial threat toward Backstrom.

As noted above, prior misconduct maybe admitted to rebut a

material assertion by the defendant. Fisher, 165 Wn,2d at 750.

Additionally, otherwise inadmissible evidence may be admitted if the

defendant "opens the door" to it or creates a false impression of a relevant

issue. Wai7en, 134 Wn. App. at 64-65; Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 750.

After excluding Fastrup's mid-trial threat to assault Bacicstroin, the

court reconsidered the State's motion to admit the evidence after Fastrup

specifically elicited information from Detective Pavlovich about his post-

arrest claims that he was scared of Bacicstrom (who was larger than hiin)

because she had threatened him before and could "kick his ass," and that

he only helped Bacicstrom dispose of Grigsby's body because he was

scared Bacl<stroin would kill him too. See 9RP 168-72. The count

determined that Fastrup's stated intent to attack Bacicstrom in court,
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requiring the jail officers to "fuck hun up" to stop him, was relevant to

rebut Fastrup"s claims as stated by Detective Pavlovicil, l ORP 74-76.

The court's ruling was proper. After all, the decision to admit

prior bad act evidence lies within the sound discretion of the trial court

and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. Brown, 132

Wn.2d at 571-72.

c. Other Instances Of Misconduct Elicited By Fastrup
During Cross-Examination.

Fastrup argues the court erroneously admitted a "myriad" of other

misconduct evidence by Fastrup. He essentially alleges that the court

should have intervened during his cross-examination of Bacicstrom when

she blurted out negative things about him in response to his questioning.

However, Fastrup did not properly object to some of the evidence he

complains of, and thus cannot raise a challenge to that evidence for the

first time on appeal. The remaining evidence does not require reversal

because there is no reasonable probability that it materially affected the

outcome.

i. Fastrup waived a challenge to prior
misconduct evidence that he did not
properly object to at trial.

As outlined above, a defendant is generally precluded from raising

an issue for the first time in the appellate courts. RAP 2.5(a).
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Additionally, "A party may only assign error in the appellate court on the

specific ground of the evidentiary objection made at trial." State v. Elkins,

152 Wn. App. 871, 878, 220 P.3d 211 (2009) (quoting CJulov, 104 Wn.2d

at 422) (ernpliasis added). See also ER 103(a)(1) (timely objection, stating

the specific grounds, is required for claim of error). An exception to this

general rule is made when the appellant demonstrates that the error

complained of constitutes manifest constitutional error. RAP 2.5(a)(3);

Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 926-27. However, as stated previously,

evidentiary errors under ER 404(b) are non-constitutional in nature.

Jackson, 102 Wn,2d at 695.

The specific misconduct Fastrup alleges that he has waived for

failure to properly object includes testimony:

• that he was "selfish." 6/23/14RP 129.

• that he was a "control freak." 7RP 61.

• that he was "a hateful little person." 7RP 65.

• that "he obviously did this," (counsel objected as

non-responsive, not as improper misconduct evidence).

...

that he got both her and Grigsby addicted to drugs

(counsel objected as non-responsive, not as improper

misconduct evidence). 7RP 87.
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Because Fastrup did not properly object to this testimony at trial on the

basis of ER 404(b), he may not challenge it for the first time on appeal.

ii. Any error in admitting the remaining prior
misconduct evidence does not warrant
reversal.

During his cross-examination of Backstrom, Fastrup repeatedly

questioned her about whether she was angry that he had left her for

Grigsby. 6/23/14RP 92-93; 7RP 43-44, 62-63. Backstrom denied being

angry at him about the breakup, pointing to his 'poor treatment of her as

support. For example, when Fastrup asked her whether she was "mad" at

him for leaving, she responded that she was mad at him because he stole

from her constantly. 6/23/14RP 92-93.

Later, when Fastrup asked her whether she was mad at Grigsby for

"taking her boyfriend," Backstrom responded that she was not: "Why

would [she] want to keep him" when he "abused her for three years

straight," and stole from her for years. 7RP 62. When Fastrup continued

to question Bacicstrom about being angry that he had left her, she

responded, "He would hold knives to me every day, almost," and "[h]e

robbed by house repeatedly." Id. Fastrup interjected in these remarks by

objecting, but Backstrom kept tailcing, saying that Fastrup had thrown

gasoline on her house. 7RP 63, The court asked Backstrom to stop
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talking and told Fastrup to be "very specific" with his questioning.

Fastrup did not state a basis for his objection, did not aslc the court to

strike the comments, and did not aslc the court for a mistrial.

Fastrup opened the door to Bacicstrom's testimony about the

various ill deeds Fastrup had perpetrated upon her during their three-year

relationship by repeatedly questioning her about why she was "mad" at

Fastrup. Fastrup tried to get Bacicstrom to admit that she was jealous of

Grigsby and angry with Fastrup for leaving her. Thus, her testimony

about the abuse and stealing that Fastrup perpetrated was in direct

response to Fastrup's questioning. He elicited the testimony, and cannot

complain that it was erroneously admitted.

Indeed, Fastrup's entire defense was that Bacicstrom was. very

angry with him for leaving her for Grigsby, and that she killed Grigsby

herself and framed Fastrup for the murder. 13RP 78-82. As such, he had

an incentive to elicit Bacicstrom's animosity toward him, and could have

easily made the tactical decision not to object to most of her testimony that

made clear she was angry at Fastrup and no longer loved him.

Indeed, when asked why she had pled guilty to second-degree

murder, Backstrom answered that because in addition to the fact that she

risked a longer sentence after trial, she felt remorse. 7RP 84. Fastrup

responded, "It wasn't because you were mad at Kenny?" Id. Backstrom
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denied such a motivation, but Fastrup pressed her: "It wasn't because you

were mad that he had gone off and run away with another girl?" Id.

Bacicstrom denied it, and stated that it would have been a blessing if

Fastrup had left her earlier, because she wouldn't have to worry about

Fastrup stealing from her again. 7RP 84-86. Fastrup did not object to this

statement, but continued to press her about her motivation to frame

Fastrup for Grigsby's murder, asking her that "the best way" to have

Fastrup stop stealing from her would be to "testify against Kenny and put

him away for murder." 7RP 85. As such, the misconduct testimony

complained of cut both ways. See 13RP 79-80 (During closing argument,

Fastrup argued that the abuse in the relationship "went both ways," and

that Backstrom is "a woman scorned," and was trying to "take Fastrup

down with her.").

Fastrup also complains about Backstrom's comment that he liked

to hit people on the nose and give women black eyes. 7RP 53. Fastrup

did not object to this evidence, rather, he simply asked the court to instruct

the witness to "answer the question." Id. After the court did so, Fastrup

asked that the court instruct the jury to disregard the statements. 7RP 54.

The court struck the statements and instructed the jury to disregard them.

Id. Fastrup also complains about Bacicstrom's testimony that he had hung

a noose in the garage for her to hang herself. 7RP 47. Her comment came
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in response to Fastrup showing her an admitted e~iibit — a photograph of

her garage where the murder occurred. Bacicstrom pointed out the noose

in the photograph and indicated that Fastrup had hung it for her to commit

suicide. 7RP 47. Fastrup asked the court to strike the comment and

instruct the jury to disregard it. The court did so. 7RP 47.

An evidentiary error which is not of constitutional magnitude

requires reversal only if the error, within reasonable probability, materially

affected the outcome of the trial. State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 127,

857 P.2d 270, 280-81 (1993), The court instructed the jury to disregard

the statements about giving women black eyes and hanging the noose in

the garage. Courts generally presume that jurors follow instructions to

disregard improper evidence. State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790

P.2d 610 (1990).

Given the nature of the evidence that was properly admitted (that

Fastrup had pistol-whipped and threatened Backstrom ), the fact that the

jury was instructed to disregard the testimony that Fastrup asked the court

to strike, Fastrup's attempt to evade capture, and Fastrup's own

contradictory and incredible statements to police, there is no reasonable

probability that Bacicstrom's testimony affected the outcome of the trial,
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3. THE INVITED ERROR DOCTRINE PRECLUDES
FASTRUP FROM CHALLENGING THE LIMITING
INSTRUCTIONS THAT HE PROPOSED.

Fastrup alleges that the limiting instructions he proposed regarding

Bacicstrom's act of breaking Grigsby's car window and his own mid-trial

threat toward Bacicstrom improperly conveyed the judge's opinion on the

value of the evidence. The State does not concede that the limiting

instructions improperly commented on the evidence or that any error in

them would warrant reversal. Regardless, Fastrup's claim fails. He

proposed the limiting instructions and is thus precluded by the invited

error doctrine from challenging them on appeal.

A defendant who invites error —even constitutional error —may

not claim on appeal that the error requires a new trial. State v. Henderson,

114 Wn.2d 867, 870, 792 P.2d 514 (1990). "A party may not request an

instruction and later complain on appeal that the requested instruction was

given." State v. Boyer, 91 Wn.2d 342, 345, 588 P.2d 1151 (1979). The

invited error doctrine seeks to prevent parties from misleading trial courts

~ The jury was instructed that:

It would be improper forme to express, by words or conduct, my
personal opinion about the value of testimony or other evidence. I have
not intentionally done this. If it appeared to you that I have indicated
my personal. opinion in any way, either during trial or in giving these
instructions, you must disregard this entirely.

CP 39. It is presumed that the jury followed this instruction. State v. Willis, 67 Wn.2d
681, 688, 409 P,2d 669 (1966),
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and then receiving the windfall of a new trial. State v. Momah, 167

Wn.2d 140, 153, 217 P.3d 321 (2009). In determining whether the invited

error doctrine precludes a defendant's claim on review, courts consider

whether the defendant affirmatively assented to the error, materially

contributed to it, or benefited from it. Id. at 154.

Here, Fastrup created the error of which he now complains by

proposing that the court instruct the jury that:

You are about to be shown State's Exhibit 58. This exhibit
is admitted for the limited purpose of corroborating Ms.
Bacicstrom's description of the incident involving Ms.
Bacicstrom breaking Denise Grigsby's windshield with a
hatchet. You are to consider it for no other purpose.

CP 26. The court read the instruction as proposed. 7RP 123. Fastrup also

proposed a limiting instruction which read:

You are about to hear testimony regarding a statement the
defendant made to this witness. This statement is being
admitted for the limited purpose of allowing the State to
refute the defendant's prior statements regarding his fear of
Ms. Backsti•om. You are to consider it for no other
purpose.

CP 29, The court gave Fasttup's proposed instruction, with the addition of

the words, "and his inability to defend himself' inserted after "regarding

his fear of Ms. Bacicstrom." 11RP 68-69. Fastrup objected to insertion of

the words "and his inability to defend himself" 11RP 4-6.
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Admitting that he proposed the instructions he challenges, Fastrup

claims that the court had a duty to alter them to "correctly" instruct the

jury. The only case he cites in support of this contention is inapposite. In

State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 423-25, 269 P.3d 207 (2012), the court

did not give a limiting instruction at all, finding that defense counsel's

proposed instruction incorrectly stated the law. The Washington Supreme

Court held that because the defendant had requested a limiting instruction,

the trial court had a duty to provide one that correctly stated the law, and it

was error for the court to not give one at all. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d at 425.

That is not the scenario here, where the court gave limiting instructions, as

requested by Fastrup.

Because Fastrup proposed the limiting instructions of which he

now complains, he is precluded from claiming reversible error. See State

v. Stubbs, 137 Wn.2d 533, 546-47, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999) (applying the

"strict rule" of invited error and rejecting the defendants' claim arising

from a "clearly erroneous jury instruction" because the defendants

proposed it).

Although Fastrup objected to insertion of the words "and his inability to defend
himself' on one of the insn•uctions, his claim on appeal is that by the use of the word
"refute," the court improperly conveyed its belief that "the value of this threat was a
settled matter and gave to the jury the court's opinion that the threat undercut Mr.
Fasri~up's credibility." Brf, of Appellant at 28-29. Whether the threat refuted Fastrup's
claim of fear alone, or his claims of fear and inability to defend himself is irrelevant to

the claim on appeal and does not preclude application of the invited error doctrine.
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4. THE COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS
DISCRETION TO ADMIT BACKSTROM'S PRIOR
CONSISTENT STATEMENTS.

Fastrup alleges that the court erred by allowing the State to

introduce out-of-court statements made by Bacicstrom on the day of her

arrest as "prior consistent statements." He argues that it was inadmissible

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